
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 26 November 2021 
 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
will meet on 

Monday, 6 December 2021 
beginning at 

6:45 pm 
in the 

Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair) 
 Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Janice Asman 
Councillor Alan Broadhurst 
Councillor James Duguid 
Councillor Tim Groves 
 

Councillor Lucy Jurd 
Councillor Steven Broomfield 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
Councillor Dave Kinloch 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 8298; 
Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 Email: 
natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2021. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 

5.   Chair's Report  
 

6.   Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan (Pages 9 - 40) 
 

7.   Corporate Action Plan Updates (Pages 41 - 58) 
 

8.   Active Lifestyle Strategy (Pages 59 - 66) 
 

9.   Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 67 - 70) 
 

10.   Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme (Pages 71 - 72) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 13 January 2022 at 6:45 pm 

In the Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, 
Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Thursday, 18 November 2021  (6:45 pm – 8:20 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Cross, Broadhurst, Duguid, Groves 
and Kinloch 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Kyrle 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Asman, Jurd, 
Broomfield and Tyson-Payne 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

202. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

203. MINUTES 
 
It was AGREED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 14 October 2021 
be confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

204. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
A member of the public spoke on item 7 of the agenda. 
 

205. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
There was no report from the Chair on this occasion. 
 

206. UPDATES FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 
The first meeting of the Equalities task and finish group had met with an 
action plan being drawn together. 
 
A Task and Finish Group looking at Direct Services use of temporary staff 
has been formed and progress will be reported to future committees. 
 
Councillor Duguid reported that the One Horton Heath (OHH) Task and 
Finish Group have held a preliminary session. Further scoping work is 
being carried out with a further meeting in scheduled for December.   
 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 Rental side of landlord/HRA work will be linked to OHH Task & Finish 
Group. 
 

207. BIODIVERSITY ACTION PLAN AND SPD/NATURE RECOVERY 
 
Cllr Kyrle introduced the item.  The Ecologist then gave a presentation to 
cover the main themes.   
The outline content for additional documents to support the 
implementation of the Biodiversity Strategy, ‘the Strategy’ were presented 
for initial comments on content and scope. The Strategy was previously 
reported to Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel on 17 June 2021 which 
highlighted the key issues facing biodiversity, why biodiversity is important, 
and a framework for delivery. The additional documents presented, the 
revised Biodiversity Action Plan and Local Nature Recovery Strategy, 
revised and updated Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document and 
a new Sustainable Drainage Systems Supplementary Planning Document 
will be the main drivers and policy instruments to help support successful 
implementation of the Strategy. 
 
A member of the public attended to speak on this item and asked the 
following question: 
Mr George Baker is a representative of Friends of Wildern Local Nature 
Reserve in Hedge End.  The report refers to a number of substantial docs.  
Mr Baker questioned whether there are sufficient resources within the 
Ecology Team to deliver this. 
 
Cllr Kyrle explained that the Ecology team had been increased to ensure 
that the ecology actions within the Climate Change Action Plan can be 
addressed. 
 
Cllr Cross spoke on Hamble Airfield being identified as a priority habitat for 
the southern area however there is a live planning application that has 
come forward for the former gravel extraction areas which could impact on 
the priority areas.  The Ecologist responded that the team would like to be 
included in the consultation on this planning application response.  This 
could impact on the Nature Recovery Strategy. 
 
Cllr Groves noted that motorway and railway lines are important elements 
of local biodiversity links.  The Ecologist agreed and said that the M3 
corridor is still of ecological importance.  The initial view is that these will 
still be included as priority areas and can link to strategies of other 
agencies such as Network Rail. 
 
Cllr Broadhurst suggested that the Monks Brook could be an ideal link.  It 
is also important that the information included in SPDs must be applied 
and remain at the forefront of decisions. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That the Panel: 

4



3 
 

 
(1) provided feedback and comments on the content of the 

documents outlined to support the implementation of the 
Biodiversity Strategy; 

(2) agreed to forming a Task and Finish Group to assist Officers 
developing the documents chaired by Councillor Groves 
aiming to have membership across the Borough where 
possible. 

 
The Panel made the following recommendations to Cabinet: 
 

(3) That Cabinet responds to the Hamble Airfield consultation to 
raise concerns over the ecological impact of mineral extraction 
with input from the Ecology Team; 

(4) Ensure Ecology is properly resourced to develop policies and 
to deliver actions; and 

(5) The KPI review considers KPIs related to Ecology in order that 
the Council can more accurately monitor performance. 

 
 

208. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE 
 
The Chief Financial Officer introduced the report which was debated by 
Members with discussions around the property portfolio, interest rates, 
performance of pollution monitoring equipment, resourcing of council tax 
queries, resourcing of the climate change action plan, fly-tipping, planning 
enforcement, use of emergency accommodation, the Afghan evacuee 
situation,  invoices paid within 10 days and average duration for Councillor 
cases.   
 
It was suggested that the Health and Wellbeing scorecard layout could be 
improved.   
 
It was noted that the target for repeat missed bins was consistently 
missed, but that this figure includes ‘non-blame worthy’ missed bins.  The 
new waste scorecard will provide more accurate information.   
 
Councillors commented on the Council’s low levels of sickness. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 
performance and financial position of the Council for the first two 
quarters of the year making any recommendations to Cabinet as 
appropriate. 
 

209. CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions. 
 

5



4 
 

It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

210. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 
Panel members considered their Work Programme. 
 
It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted. 

6



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Monday, 6 December 2021  

CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENT EMERGENCY UPDATE 

Report of the Climate Change Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel: 
 
(1) Note the contents of this report and make recommendations as appropriate; 

(2) Note that the Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan will be revised 
and the Strategy updated in 2022. 

 

Summary 
 
This report sets out progress since December 2020 until November 2021 of the Climate 
and Environment Emergency Action Plan. 

 
 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. On 18 July 2019, the Council unanimously declared a Climate and 
Environmental Emergency. This was subsequently supported with a Climate 
and Environment Emergency (CEE) Strategy and an interim Action Plan 
(November 2019).  An updated Action Plan was approved in June 2020. 

2. The CEE action plan directly supports delivery of the Corporate Plan and the 
Corporate Action Plan (2021-2022), particularly the Green Borough theme. An 
update Action Plan was approved in June 2020. 

Introduction 

3. Climate breakdown is widely considered to be the greatest threat to global 
health in the 21st century. In response to the October 2018 Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report stating that there was less than 12 
years to respond to this emergency a cross-party motion was unanimously 
agreed to address the issue locally. 

7

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

4. The declaration sets out the Council’s aim to be carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
support communities and businesses across the Borough to achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2030. This report sets out progress on the Action Plan since 
December 2020. 

Action Plan Progress 

5. To support the Action Plan the Council has increased staffing in ecology, 
recruited a Climate Change Manager, Green Energy Manager and provided 
additional resource to set up, and staff a tree nursery (one supervisor and two 
apprentices). 

6. Unfortunately, a number of actions have experienced some form of delay and 
missed their target dates. COVID, staff changes, recruitment challenges and 
staff capacity have all had an impact. 

7. To bring the Action Plan back on target the Council reallocated £255,000 of 
existing reserves in July to support priority actions. An additional £800,000 
was added to the vehicle replacement budget to purchase three electric 
refuse collection vehicles (eRCVs). The Green Energy Manager started in 
September, as did the Strategy Development Senior Specialist for 
Environment, a key post in the delivery of elements of the action plan. 

8. As the impacts of COVID have lessened and staff resource and budget have 
increased more progress has been made against the actions in recent 
months. The below summarises progress and delays.  More detail can be 
found in Appendix one: Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan 
Update: December 2020 – November 2021. 

 Carbon Offsetting: A carbon offsetting scheme has not been 
established. Currently there are only two recognised schemes in the UK, 
the Woodland Carbon Code and the Peatland Carbon Code – there are 
no independent verifiers for projects outside of these parameters. Many 
other Councils are facing the same challenge and work is being 
undertaken to come up with an alternative model.  

 Ecology: Overarching Biodiversity Strategy has been drafted, as has the 
outline content for the Biodiversity Action Plan and Nature Recovery 
Strategy. Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) are 
undertaking work to establish ecological and carbon baselines (natural 
stores) for the Borough. 

 Economy: Action was on hold due to impact of COVID pandemic on 
businesses. Work is now underway to establish business needs to help 
develop a communications package and toolkit. 

 Estates: There were delays in recruiting the Green Energy Manager due 
to COVID and skills shortages. The Green Energy Manager started in 
September and £150,000 has been reallocated to commission energy 
audits of our directly managed buildings to regain lost time. These audits 

8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

will identity energy efficiency and renewable opportunities and inform our 
plan to decarbonise our estate. 

 Fleet: Diesel fuel has been replaced by hydrogenated vegetable oil for the 
majority of the vehicle fleet, reducing carbon emission by 90%. Electric 
refuse collection vehicles (eRCVs) have been successfully trialled and an 
additional £800,000 has been provided to purchase three eRCVs, train 
staff, update the workshop and install chargers. Currently at tender stage 
and the order is expected to be placed in December 2021. 

 Green Homes: The Council have promoted the ‘Green Homes Local 
Authority Delivery Fund’, a government grant scheme which, supports 
low-income households with poor energy performing homes. Phase 1b 
will lead to solid wall insulation in 26 properties, air source heat pumps in 
28 properties, 62 park homes insulated and solar PV installed on 60 
homes. Phase 2 is underway, and 47 applications have been registered.  

 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs): The Biodiversity and 
Sustainable Urban Drainage SPDs have been drafted and presented to 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel in November. The Tree and 
Development SPD is due to be formally adopted by cabinet in December 
2021.  

 Zero-Carbon Development: One Horton Heath will have no fossil fuel 
heating systems, higher levels of insulation and adopted the Future 
Homes Standard of a 75% improvement on energy efficiency compared to 
current building regulations from phase one (standard not due to be 
applied nationally until 2025). £30,000 has been reallocated to procure 
specialist consultancy to advise on how to achieve net-zero 
developments. The work will establish current performance and future 
targets for embodied carbon (carbon in building process and materials) 
and operational carbon (day to day running). 

 Internal Training: Carbon Literacy Training was planned for September 
but was cancelled by the course provider. As an interim measure in-house 
training has been provided to Executive Heads and Corporate Project 
Team. £20,000 has been reallocated to support the CEE training 
programme which will commence in early 2022. 

 Procurement: Progress has been delayed due to staff changes and 
capacity. £10,000 has been reallocated to analyse carbon impact and 
identify quick wins. A working group has been formed and a project plan 
will be developed. 

 Resident engagement: The Communications Team have run campaigns 
such as ‘bike back better’ which saw an increase in cycling, waste 
minimisation and a joint clean air campaign. As well general news on the 
Council’s climate change activities such as the Tree Nursery and Solar 
Farm purchase they promoted ‘Solar Together’ a group buying scheme 
which will lead to 138 residents installing solar photovoltaic systems in the 
Borough. 

9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 Sustainable Transport: Walking and Cycling Strategy has been drafted 
and public consultation will take place in early 2022.  The RIDES cargo 
bike trial has been launched jointly with Southampton City Council to 
reduce the impact of last mile deliveries. 

 Trees: The tree nursery continues to increase its stock levels (currently 
circa 17,000 trees) and staff will be planting across the Borough this 
autumn/winter.  A project group has been set up to identify sites for 
amenity planting and new woodlands. This has been supported with the 
reallocation of £20,000 for specialist consultancy support. 

 Waste: Food waste collections have been rolled out to 90 housing blocks 
with the remainder to be phased in.  

 Working with Partners: The Greening Campaign (main engagement 
tool) has yet to be launched due to COVID. Currently surveying Parish 
Councils to understand levels of action and barriers to consider best ways 
to support them and the resources required.  

Green House Gas Emissions Report 2020-2021 

9. When the Council declared a climate and environment emergency it set a 
baseline year of 2018-2019 to achieve carbon neutrality against. The Council 
also increased the sources of greenhouse gases (GHGs) it monitors to 
include procurement and commuting. In addition, carbon emissions from 
homeworking has been included in the 2020-2021 report and applied to 
previous years to enable comparison (Appendix two). 

10. Table 1 shows that GHGs decreased in 2019-2020 by 18% compared to 2018 
- 2019. However, the overall decrease narrowed in 2020-2021 to only 5%. 
GHG emissions associated with gas, fuel, electricity, and water have generally 
fallen year on year. Increases in emissions from homeworking and 
procurement, were mainly responsible for narrowing the gap in 2020-2021. 

Table 1: Eastleigh Borough Council Greenhouse Gas Emissions - tonnes of 
carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) 

 

 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

11. Reducing GHG emissions in the ‘scope 3’ category is recognised as the most 
challenging area as there is limited control. Whilst the Council could reduce 
spend, this would impact on services and delivery of the Corporate Plan. As 
the Council’s building programme starts to increase then so too will the 
associated procurement emissions. 

12. Eastleigh Borough Council is one of very few councils that have included 
procurement within its GHG monitoring and its carbon baseline. Whilst it is a 
challenge it does give a more complete picture of the overall impact the 
Council has. Action will be taken to reduce procurement emissions at source 
through an updated procurement policy, tools, and training. However, it is very 
likely that offsetting will have to play a significant role in limiting the impact of 
these emissions to achieve carbon neutrality. 

Carbon Neutral Borough 

13. The majority of the actions (65%) aim to improve the environment, natural 
carbon stores or reduce GHG emissions across the borough i.e., not focussed 
on Council operations. To better understand what a carbon neutral borough in 
2030 would look like and the levels of cuts in emissions needed a report has 
been commissioned. This will consider the extent of reductions needed from 
sources such as transport, electricity, heat, waste, and diet. 

14. Along with other Councils who have declared a climate emergency with an 
area target of 2030 there exists a policy gap between local and central 
Government. The Government is not on target to meet the national net-zero 
target for 2050. Table 2 shows the current level of progress against national 
carbon budgets. The 5th carbon budget aims for a reduction of 57% by 2030. 
As this is not currently going to be achieved then the Borough target of 
achieving carbon neutrality by 2030 target will be very challenging. 

15. Table 2: Climate Change Committee - progress against carbon budgets 
(mega tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent) 

Carbon Budget Carbon budget 
level (MtCO2e) 

Reduction below 
1990 levels 

Met? 

1 (2008-2012) 3,018  25% Yes 

2 (2013-2017) 2,782  31% Yes 

3 (2018-2022) 2,544  37% by 2020 On track 

4 (2023-2027) 1,950  51% by 2025 Off track 

5 (2028-2032) 1,725 57% by 2030 Off track 

6 (2033-2037) 965 78% by 2035 Off track 

 

11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

16. The Climate Change Committee assess progress on the budgets against 
current Government policy and action. Whilst current action is not sufficient to 
meet the current carbon budgets there has been a noticeable increase in 
activity on the last two years. 

17. Should the Government raise the ambition of policy or support more action 
such as large-scale retrofitting of homes, increase the pace of transition to 
electric vehicles or decarbonisation of the electricity grid then it could be 
possible to meet current budgets. 

18. The report will enable to Council to evaluate where it can best have the 
biggest impact and plan future actions. 

Financial Implications 

19. The finances detailed in this paper have already been approved. Future 
additional financial requirements will be detailed on a project-by-project basis. 
For some projects they may generate an income such as large-scale solar 
farms, for others they may result in a net cost such as behaviour change 
support. Where additional resource is required a business case will be drawn 
up and approval obtained before commencement. 

Risk Assessment 

20. There are significant risks should the Council fail to mitigate climate change 
and ensure that the residents, businesses and the natural environment are 
able to adapt to the future climate 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

21. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways: the 
various impacts and responses to climate change are likely to 
disproportionally impact on people with protected characteristics. 

22. An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) was carried out to support the Climate 
and Environmental Programme in November 2019 and this has been used to 
refine the approach set out. In summary the EqIA shows that care will be 
needed to ensure that actions to mitigate climate change do not lead to 
discrimination and that opportunities to reduce existing inequality are 
maximised. 

23. As the action plan is further developed there will need to be engagement with 
key stakeholders and representatives of protected groups to ensure that 
actions are compliant and where possible reduce existing inequality. Actions 
linked to the review of procurement policy and increased training will support 
the Council’s efforts to eliminate Modern Slavery. All activities considered in 
the action plan will need to take Modern Slavery into account. 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

24. Expanding upon the core equality considerations, this report further refines 
the approach for the Council to respond to the challenge of climate and 
environmental degradation to support the wellbeing of future generations. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

25. The purpose of the Action Plan is to reduce the impact of climate change both 
on residents and the environment through reducing GHGs and increasing 
carbon storage. Some of the actions focus on improving the state of 
biodiversity in the borough, increasing the resilience of wildlife to climate 
change. 

Conclusion 

26. The Climate and Environmental Emergency presents significant risk to 
residents and businesses. This report provides further detail on the Action 
Plan progress and steps needed to enable the Council to respond effectively 
to this emergency. 

27. In November 2022 the updated Action Plan will be two and half years old and 
the strategy three years old. The Action Plan already contains actions that 
have been completed or have become obsolete. Further actions will be 
completed over the next twelve months and a revised action plan and updated 
strategy will be needed to continue progress towards the 2025 and 2030 
targets. 

28. It is recommended that Policy and Performance and Scrutiny Panel: 

1. note the contents of this report and make recommendations as 
appropriate. 

2. note that the Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan will be 
revised, and the Strategy updated. 

ANDY BRENNAN 
CLIMATE CHANGE MANAGER 

 
 
Date: 24 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Andy Brennan 
Tel No: 02380 688077 
e-mail: andy.brennan@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 2 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

* List Background Papers - None. 
 

14



Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan Update: December 2020 - November 2021 
 

 Programme Action Impact Target Progress December 2020 Progress November 2021 

1 Ecology 
 
 

Carbon Sequestration 
Schemes - Work in 
partnership to develop 
proposals for large scale 
habitat creation projects 
and secure funding to 
deliver schemes that can 
sequester carbon. 

Localised 
carbon 
offsetting, 
habitat creation 
and reducing 
localised 
nutrient 
budgeting 
issues. 
 

Proposals for 
schemes by 
end of 
2020/21. 

So far two funding bids have 
been submitted for schemes. 
Linkages are being made 
with Carbon Offsetting, Tree 
programme, Housing and the 
Biodiversity plan 
development actions 

Hampshire Biodiversity Information 
Centre (HBIC) have been 
commissioned to undertake 
Biodiversity Net Gain assessments of 
two land parcels which will have 
sequestration benefits.  
 
HBIC are establishing a carbon 
baseline for the Borough, expected 
early 2022. 
 
Planned large-scale habitat creation 
projects will be aligned with the 
progress of the biodiversity strategy 
(see 5) and strategic land acquisition 
board.   
 

2 Ecology 
 
 

Monitoring ecological 
mitigation actions - 
Review funding made 
available through 
planning conditions, 
including ensuring that it 
can allow the 
commissioning of 
independent monitoring 
of planning applications 
as a condition of 
approval. 

To assess the 
impact of 
adopted 
mitigation 
measures on 
biodiversity 
through 
independent 
monitoring. 

A review of 
capacity was 
completed by 
March 2020. 

Completed: The review 
identified a need for greater 
ecology resources and the 
team has been expanded 
from one officer to four.  The 
team are working with HCC 
to cost up and develop the 
methodology. 

Update:  The Environment Act is now 
law and compulsory monitoring will 
take place from 2023 onwards as part 
of reporting for Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies. 
 
Responsible authorities for this work 
are yet to be decided but likely to be 
at a county level, with input from 
HBIC. 

15



3 Economy 
 
 

Business - Development 
of a climate / 
environmental 
behavioural change 
programme for 
businesses and local 
employees 

Lowering 
business 
emissions from 
the business 
sector. 

Baseline ready 

for Feb 2022.  

Annual or 

biennial 

review 

thereafter to 

measure 

progress. 

Environmental Business 
practice has been one of the 
Councils Annual Business 
awards.   
 
Launch originally planned for 

Sept 2020 but postponed 

until post-pandemic 

recovery on track.   

Questionnaire to be sent to 
businesses in November 2021 and 
preliminary results shared at business 
briefing in February 2022. 
 
Toolkit and communications package 
to be prepared using results of survey. 

4 Ecology 
 
 

Establish ecological 
baseline - In partnership 
with key bodies, establish 
an ecological baseline for 
the borough. 

Enable the 
Council to 
measure the 
impact of 
activities. 

by September 
2020 the team 
will have a 
costed 
programme 
with a more 
detailed 
methodology 
to monitor 
actions. 

The team are working with 
the County Council’s 
Hampshire Biodiversity 
Information Centre (HBIC) to 
establish baseline. Due to be 
complete in early 2021. 

Desk-based assessments and ground-
truthing undertaken by HBIC during 
summer 2021. Some ground-truthing 
will need to be carried into next 
survey season (2022).  
 
Report currently being prepared and 
will be finalised once above complete. 

5 Ecology 

 

 

Produce a Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action Plan - 
Creation of a 
comprehensive 
Biodiversity strategy and 
action plan which will 
identify responses to 
species at risk. This will 
supersede the less broad 
Biodiversity Action plan 
and sit alongside the 
other Climate and 
Environmental sub 

Strategy and 
Plan will provide 
a coherent long-
term response 
to 
environmental 
degradation. 

Consultation 
by end 2020. 

Report taken to Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel 
on 23 November to start the 
process of creating a new 
Biodiversity Strategy and 
action. Now likely to be 
completed by June 2021. 

Over-arching biodiversity strategy has 
been reviewed post P&P feedback in 
June (2021). Scheduled for cabinet in 
December 2021 to seek permission to 
undertake consultation in early 2022. 
 
Outline content for biodiversity action 
plan/nature recovery strategy 
presented to P&P in November 2021. 
 
 

16



strategies. 

6 Sustainable 

Transport 

 

 

Develop a plan to 
increase take-up of zero 
carbon “last mile” 
sustainable delivery 
services used by local 
businesses. Increasing the 
number of final deliveries 
from distribution centres 
to businesses and from 
businesses to local 
customers that are made 
by zero emission 
transport. 

Work with local 
transport 
organisation to 
expand scheme 
into Eastleigh to 
reduce local fuel 
consumption 
and improve air 
quality. 

Plan to be out 
for 
consultation 
by September 
2020. 

Delayed due to resources 
focusing on COVID. Whilst 
the plan is under 
development, several 
schemes have been awarded 
funding in partnership with 
HCC & SCC. There has been 
continued engagement with 
local businesses on Travel 
Planning. 

RIDES cargo bike trial scheme has 
been launched jointly with SCC. This 
project provides local businesses 
opportunities to trial greener delivery 
methods through the loan of 10 e-
cargo bikes (5 Urban Arrows and 5 
Tern GSDs) and 5 cargo bike boxes. 
 

7 Energy and 
Offsetting 

Electric Vehicle Charging - 
Install further public 
electric vehicle charging 
points in the borough. 

Supporting 
businesses and 
residents to 
move to electric 
vehicles will 
lead to a 
reduction in 
local and 
national 
pollution. 

First rapid 
charger to be 
installed by 
October 2020. 

Contractual and supply 
issues led to an initial delay.  
By Feb 2021 eight rapid and 
fast chargers will be installed 
across Romsey Road Car 
Park, Channon Retail Park 
and Chestnut Avenue Retail 
Park. A new ultra-rapid 
charger, one of only a few in 
the South will be installed in 
Places Leisure. 
 

Contractual issues remained until 
August 2021. Installation has begun 
and foundations and network 
connections are complete. Bay 
markings and commissioning of 
chargers remain outstanding due to 
delivery issues with charging points.  
 
Completion expected January 2022. 

17



8 Sustainable 

Transport 

Sustainable Transport 
Strategy - Development 
of a Sustainable Transport 
Strategy to include the 
council’s approach for 
public transport, travel 
plans, commercial fleet, 
taxis, low emission 
vehicles, cycling and 
walking, which will then 
inform the action plan. 

To reduce fuel 
consumption 
and air quality 
issues in the 
area, through 
modal shift to 
more 
sustainable 
travel. 

Cycling and 
Walking 
element of the 
strategy 
consultation 
by March 
2021. Overall 
strategy by 
September 
2021. 

Programme delayed due to a 
focus on responding the 
health crisis, project to be 
picked up at an appropriate 
time. Work on the Strategy 
will recommence in 
November as work on the 
Eastleigh Town Centre 
scheme reduces. This will 
include an initial community 
consultation and 
development of the draft 
strategy. 

Draft Walking and Cycling strategy 
was considered at P&P in July 2021. 
Further changes to the document and 
an internal consultation are underway 
and public consultation will 
commence in early 2022.  
 
The strategy will then be revised and 
put forward for adoption by April 
2022.  

9 Housing Supplementary Planning 
Policies - Developing 
Council supplementary 
planning documents 
relating to biodiversity 
and environment net 
gain, efficiency of 
development sites, 
climate adaptation and 
strengthening the 
Council’s position on tree 
replacement planting 
including numbers, 
species and sizes of trees 
 

Policies will 
support 
Environmental 
and Climate 
mitigation/ 
adaptation 
improvements. 

First policies 
by March 
2021. 

Planning inspector 
recommendations for the 
Local Plan means that SPD's 
will need wait until later in 
the year to be consulted on. 
In the meantime, several are 
under development, in 
particular Trees.  

Tree and Development SPD complete 
following minor amendments made in 
response to public consultation and 
presentation to P&P in July 2021. Final 
version due to Cabinet on 9 December 
2021 for formal adoption. 
 
Biodiversity SPD and Sustainable 
Urban Drainage SPD presented to P&P 
in November 2021. 
 

18



10 Internal 
Training 

Staff Training - Develop 
and deliver a 
comprehensive training 
programme to support all 
staff and Councillors to 
embed Climate and 
Environmental 
considerations into all 
decisions. 

Improved 
decision making 
will lead to 
positive impacts 
across the 
board. 

Programme to 
begin in June 
2020. 

The Council is the first Local 
Authority to partnered up 
with the Institute of 
Environmental Management 
and Assessment to launch a 
formerly accredited Climate 
and Environmental Training 
programme. The programme 
has been delayed due to the 
recruitment of the climate 
change manager. Training 
will start from January 2021.  

Carbon Literacy training was planned 
for September but was cancelled by 
the course provider. 
 
As an interim measure in-house 
training has been provided to 
Executive Heads and Corporate 
Project team.  
 
£20,000 has been reallocated to 
support the CEE training programme 
which will commence in early 2022 
(dates to be confirmed by training 
provider).  

11 Energy and 
Offsetting 

Partner - Working with 
partners, including parish, 
county and neighbouring 
councils, to encourage 
positive environmental 
behaviour and 
organisation 
engagement. 

To support the 
ambitions of 
Eastleigh 
Borough 
Council. 

Programme to 
Launch in 
September 
2020. 

Engagement has begun with 
Parish and other community 
groups, however, launch and 
training has had to be 
delayed due to COVID. 

The Greening Campaign (main 
engagement tool) has yet to be 
launched due to COVID.  
 
Currently surveying Parish Councils to 
understand levels of action and 
barriers to consider best ways to 
support.  
 
Information will be used to develop 
support and projects in 2022/2023. 

19



12 External Resilience - Assessment 
of resilience to climate - 
Carry out a Social Justice 
and Climate Change 
assessment of the 
borough to increase the 
level of understanding of 
residents’ exposure and 
potential responses to 
future climate impacts. 

Improved 
resilience to 
future climate 
impacts. 

Assessment 
carried out by 
end March 
2021, with a 
more detailed 
review by 
September 
2021 

Activity being taking forward 
in partnership with other 
local authorities in region. 

This work was not progressed any 
further. However, the assessment is a 
useful tool and will be considered 
along with other tools to support staff 
in project planning/decision making.  

13 Comms Behavioural Change 
Programme - Launch of a 
climate/environmental 
behavioural change 
programme for staff. 

Support wider 
Council 
improvements. 

Programme to 
Launch in 
January 2020. 

Campaign launched in 
January 2020, with a new 
champions group formed. 
Action has been delayed due 
to office closure.  

Staff-focused variations on the active 
travel and waste minimisation 
campaigns (see 15) shared through 
internal comms channels, as well as 
news stories on prominent actions the 
council has taken on climate change, 
such as the solar farm purchase and 
tree nursery. 

14 External Communications - Public 
Reward - Working with 
Southern Water to launch 
a pilot of the Green 
Redeem, positive 
environmental behaviour 
reward scheme 

Reduction in 
water 
consumption, 
alongside other 
positive 
environmental 
behaviour. 

Pilot area to 
launch by 
January 2021. 

Programme initially delayed 
by Southern Water due to 
scheduling, uncertainty if 
this will now take place due 
to business restructure.  

Action not taken forward due to 
Southern Water re-structure. 

20



15 Comms 
 

Residents engagement - 
Launch of a climate/ 
environmental 
behavioural change 
programme for residents 
with the community 
engagement. 

Lowering 
lifestyle 
emissions 
across the 
borough. 

Programme to 
Launch in 
January 2020. 

Programme has included: 
 
Behaviour Change campaign 
was paused due to the 
pandemic as it was unlikely 
to gain traction and influence.  
 
Good environmental tips and 
positive action the Council is 
taking on climate change 
continued to be shared on 
channels. 
 
Recent action:  
 
Green homes grant – 
Facebook ads reached 23K 
users, generating 1.3K clicks 
to EBC website and a further 
1.4K clicks through to .gov 
application page 
Joint clean air project - 
Initial promotion of joint wood 
burning project. Press 
release sent and first social 
media posts around bonfire 
night posted.  
Food waste restart - 
Promotion through owned 
channels and BN front page. 
3.5K pageviews to date. 5.6K 
reached through FB posts. 
Recycle more campaign – 
final stages of campaign in 
YWBN - over 15K responses 
to weekly email quiz to date. 
Valuable insights gained in 
terms of what knowledge 
residents have about which 
materials can be recycled. 

Programme has included: 
 
Active travel 
Following the Bike Back Better 
campaign the number of people who 
said they cycled ‘once or twice a week’ 
increased by an average of 6.6. 
percentage points and the number of 
people who said they cycled ‘once or 
twice a month’ increased by an 
average of 13.5 percentage points. 
 
Green energy installations 
Following the Solar Together 
promotion campaign, 894 households 
registered for the scheme. There were 
138 acceptances of recommendation 
to install.  
 
The Green Homes Grant Local Area 
Delivery scheme - phase 1 (GHG LAD) 
was promoted. A 176 applications 
were received with funding approved 
for 103. 
 
Phase two of the scheme was 
promoted (still ongoing), as of last 
update there were 47 applications 
 
Waste minimisation 
This multichannel campaign is ongoing 
and will report next year. 
 
Joint clean air project - promotion of 
joint wood burning prevention 
campaign. Over 36K impressions 
(displays) on social media to date with 
over 1K engagements, plus promotion 
in email and print.  

 
General Climate Change PR: 
Promotion of initiatives including the 
tree nursery, the solar farm purchase, 
RIDES cycle scheme, EV charging 
points, What the council is doing on 
climate change (update) and more. 

21



16 Procurement Detailed appraisal of the 
Council’s procurement to 
identify opportunities to 
reduce the environmental 
impact and emissions of 
spend. 

Council 
procurement is 
estimated to 
equate to a 
third of the 
Councils 
emissions. 

Updated 
Procurement 
Policy and 
guidance by 
September 
2020. 

New Procurement Officer 
has been appointed. Training 
on sustainable procurement 
and decision-making tools 
will take place in January 
2021.  

Training was delayed until March and 
further delays ensued due to staff 
changes.  
 
£10,000 has been reallocated to 
support analysis of carbon impact of 
procurement 
 
A working group has been formed, 
sustainable buying standards 
reviewed, and a project plan will be 
developed.  
 
Expected completion date December 
2022. 

17 Estates Green Lease Clauses - 
Development and phasing 
in “Green Clauses” (such 
as requiring energy 
efficiency improvements) 
into the Councils rental 
leases. 

Improve 
environmental 
performance of 
buildings 
throughout 
whole life cycle 
of buildings by 
working 
collaboratively 
with occupiers/ 
businesses 
 

New Clauses 
to begin 
introduction 
by September 
-December  
2020. 

Progress slowed due to 
impact of COVID 19 and 
changing priorities for Asset 
Management Service. 
Negotiation of green lease 
clauses considered on new 
lettings and lease renewals 
on a case by case basis. 
 

Typical green lease clauses have been 
drafted to foster sustainability, 
conserve energy and to consider 
environmental matters. These will be 
incorporated in future and renewed 
leases.  

22



18 Estates Energy - Review of 
previous Solar PV 
(Photovoltaic) businesses 
cases, including the 
potential for installing 
large scale schemes. 

Increased local 
renewables will 
reduce demand 
for Fossil fuel 
power. 

More detailed 
business cases 
to be 
considered by 
October 2020. 

Completed: Several initial 
Business cases have been 
put forward and more 
detailed work is being 
carried out. The IVCP PV 
Farm to be reconsidered as 
part of the IVCP Strategic 
scoping. The new Green 
Energy manager will take a 
more active role in this in 
future (new action 39) 

Update: IVCP PV farm will not be 
taken forward due to small size and 
grid connection cost.  
 
Larger scale solar PV farms will be 
considered as part of the work of the 
strategic land acquisition board.  

19 Estates Energy - Asset 
Management - Develop 
plan for improving energy 
efficiency and 
sustainability for 
operational buildings. 

Improve 
environmental 
performance 
throughout 
whole life cycle 
of operational 
buildings 

Report by end 
April 2021. 
 
 

Partially completed: 
Assessments have been 
carried out across two sites. 
Progress delayed as Green 
Energy Manager has yet to 
be recruited.   
 
Funding bids has been 
submitted to carry out 
further assessments and 
complete a further funding 
bid to carry out the 
measures.  

Energy audits were carried out on six 
buildings in December 2020 in 
preparation for funding bids. 
Unfortunately none were successful 
due to the scheme being 
oversubscribed.  
 
Overall project delayed due to 
challenges in recruiting a Green 
Energy Manager (COVID and skills 
shortage). The Green Energy Manager 
started in September 2021. 
 
To make up for lost time £150,000 has 
been reallocated commission energy 
audits of EBC’s directly managed 
buildings (currently 25). 
 
The Green Energy Manager is 
currently preparing tender documents 
and audit reports expected early/mid 

23



2022 dependent on consultant 
capacity.  

20 Energy and 

Offsetting 
Energy - Green Supply -
 All Council purchases of 
electricity will be “Green” 
renewable energy. 

Utilising 
purchasing 
power to shift 
the UK power 
supply to 
renewable 
energy, 
reducing GHG 
emissions 
nationally. 

100% Green 
Electricity by 
April 2020. 

Completed: all sites now 
supplied with renewable 
energy.  
 

 

21 Energy and 

Offsetting 
Energy - Green Supply - 
Investigate the potential 
for the Council to move 
to a Green gas supplier. 

Utilising 
purchasing 
power to shift 
the UK power 
supply to 
renewable 
energy, 
reducing GHG 
emissions 
nationally. 
 

Investigation 
by April 2020 

Completed: Actions to be 
taken forward by the Green 
Energy Manager once then 
come into post. 

Update: There is a shortage of green 
gas nationally, EBC will continue to 
monitor situation and seek supply if 
available. 

24



22 Energy and 

Offsetting 

Offsetting - CarbonFREE - 
Investigate the use of a 
Carbon Trust accredited 
scheme to immediately 
offset the Councils 
emissions. Then develop 
a plan to locally offset the 
Council’s operational and 
outsourced emissions, 
including from energy, 
consumption and Council 
development projects 

Ensure that 
Council 
responds to its 
emissions whilst 
work is carried 
out to reduce 
the impact of 
operations. 

Initial 
offsetting 
proposal by 
November 
2019, local 
scheme 
developed by 
September 
2021. 

Completed: Initial proposal 
set out in November 2019; 
Initial investigation carried 
out, including creating a 
formerly accredited 
offsetting scheme. A more 
detailed scheme will be set 
out by the new Climate 
Manager once they are in 
post. 

Update: An accredited offsetting 
scheme is proving a challenge as there 
are only two recognised schemes in 
the UK, the Woodland Carbon Code, 
and the IUCN Peatland code.  
 
Other Councils are finding similar 
challenges and work continues to find 
a suitable model. 
 
An update was presented to CEE 
Board in October and a further update 
will be provided in January 2022. 

23 Fleet and 

Waste 

Waste - Develop a waste 
management plan for the 
Council’s operational 
properties 

Waste 
reduction, 
recycling and 
responsible 
waste 
management. 

Review to be 
completed by 
March  2021 
with a full 
package 
delivered by 
the end of 
2021. 

Delayed due to COVID 
response, to start in the new 
year.  

Project has been placed on hold due 
to office closure.  
 
Review will take place in Q4 of 
2021/2022 with actions put in place 
during Q1-Q2 in 2022/2023.  

24 Energy and 

Offsetting 
Offsetting - Relaunch 
External CarbonFREE 

Local offsetting 
programme will 
support further 
mitigation and 
adaptation 
aims. 

By March 
2021. 

Delayed: Initial investigation 
has taken place, the 
workstream will be 
developed upon 
appointment of the new 
Climate Manager once they 
are in post. 
 

A single approach is being taken to 
external and internal offsetting, see 
action 22. 

25



25 Pollution 
Strategy 

Pollution Strategy - 
Development of a 
Pollution Strategy, 
including noise/nuisance, 
dust, land and 
overarching the Air 
Quality Action Plan which 
will be completed by 
March 2020. 

Reduction in 
local pollution 
issues. 

Project 
scoping by end 
of October 
2020. 
Publish 
Strategy by 
end of May 
2021. 
 

The scope of the pollution 
strategy agreed at October 
Policy and Performance 
Panel, working group 
currently supporting 
development. 

Project on hold due to staffing 
resources and future environment 
directorate restructure. 

26 Ecology Trees - Develop a strategy 
to ensure that there is 
effective protection of 
existing trees through the 
use of Tree Protection 
Orders (TPO) and 
effective enforcement, 
tree 
planting/replacement 
programme including 
maintenance regime for 
tree stock across the 
Borough. 

A robust tree 
planting 
programme will 
support habitat 
creation and 
offsetting. 

Strategy, SPD 
and Policy 
agreed by 
March 2021. 
 

Tree Policy, Strategy and SPD 
development agreed with 
P&P in September 2020, 
currently under 
development. 

Tree Strategy has been delayed due to 
staff changes. New strategy 
Development Senior Specialist 
(Environment) will take this forward 
with a paper to P&P in January 2022 
 
Some elements of the strategy have 
been picked up in the Tree SPD (action 
6) including management of existing 
stock and TPO trees. 
 
Tree planting - 2 FTE`s and vehicle 
deployed from January 2022 to 
commence tree planting borough 
wide, trees to be supplied from Tree 
nursery and recorded on Ezytreev for 
future maintenance requirements and 
counting purposes. 
  

26



27 Fleet and 

Waste 

Fleet - Develop an action 
plan to transition the 
Streetscene fleet to 
Electric or Ultra Low 
Emission Vehicles (ULEV) 
by 2025. 

Reduction in 
operational 
emissions, 
improvement in 
air quality and 
reduction in 
water 
consumption 

Business case 
developed by 
September 
2020. 

Trial of electric waste 
vehicles due to take place in 
December 2020. Plans in 
place to install further 
chargers for fleet, with 
orders for vehicles for street 
scene soon to go in.  

This action has been expanded to 
cover whole fleet.  
 
Almost all of the vehicle fleet is now 
running on Hydrogenated Vegetable 
Oil (HVO), offering a 90% CO2 saving. 
 
Additional budget of £800,000 has 
been approved to purchase three 
electric refuse collection vehicles 
(ERCVS), install charge points and train 
staff. The tender process for eRCV’s is 
underway with order to be placed in 
December 2021. 
 
In partnership with a specialist 
consultancy, we are modelling future 
fleet requirements and energy 
demands and working with suppliers, 
particularly looking at vehicles < 7.5t 
GVW. 
 

28 Ecology Trees - Exploring the 
development of locally 
grown trees and plant 
stock with consideration 
of a peat free Council tree 
and plant stock nursery. 

Early planting of 
trees reducing 
the cost and 
carbon footprint 
importing 
mature trees to 
improve 
coverage across 
the borough.  

Investigation 
completed by 
June 2020. 

Completed: The creation of 
a tree nursery was agreed by 
cabinet in July. Site now 
established at Horton Heath 
and first trees have been 
planted. 
 

Update: An internal group has been 
formed to identify amenity and 
woodland planting sites. £20,000 has 
been reallocated to support this 
process 

27



29 Ecology Wildflowers - Introduce 
more wildflower areas 
across the Borough, 
including mixture of 
ornamental and native 
wildflowers and areas 
which are left with 
minimal maintenance to 
increase biodiversity. 

Reduction in 
GHG emissions 
and decrease in 
local air 
pollution. 

By end 2021 Wildflower planting was 
delayed due to Covid 19. An 
agreement has been reached 
with HCC regarding the 
approach to move this 
forward and streetscene and 
the Local Areas have started 
to identify locations for 
further wildflower areas.  

Locations for 2022 to be agreed by 
LAC’s, work programme will take 
approx. 6 weeks to prepare ground 
and plant. Work will need to 
commence February 2022 and is 
reliant on resources being available. 

30 Energy and 
Offsetting 

Grey Water - 
Investigating potential to 
move to grey water 
harvesting for use in 
mechanical and compact 
sweepers 

Grey water 
usage will lead 
to a significant 
GHG and cost 
reduction for 
the Councils 
streetscene 
services. 

Plan by March 
2021. 

Two sites have been located, 
feasibility assessments to be 
carried out. 

It is unlikely there will be sufficient 
grey water from buildings to make this 
a worthwhile proposition (volumes 
are too small).  
 
Further investigations will be carried 
out to determine the feasibility of 
installing a rainwater harvesting 
systems including the depot 
refurbishment. 
 

31 Operational 

Equipment 
Handheld Streetscene 
equipment - All handheld 
petrol driven Streetscene 
equipment (such as 
strimmer’s) will transition 
to electric, 50 separate 
items of equipment by 
2021. 

This activity will 
reduce council 
vehicle 
movements and 
facilitate further 
uptake of food 
waste across 
Hampshire. 

Study to be 
completed by 
June 2020. 

Completed: Over 50 petrol 
powered hand held tools 
have been replaced saving 
over 1600L of fuel. 

Update: Transition now complete 

28



32 Fleet and 
Waste 

Commercial Food Waste 
Collections - Council to 
assess the potential and 
develop a plan to 
introduce food waste 
collections for businesses 
in the Borough 

Reduction of 
waste to 
incineration, 
creation 
of green gas 
from 
waste. 

Plan 
development 
during 
20/21. 

To be considered as part of 
the New Ways of Waste 
Programme. 

Trade waste collections are currently 
being optimised to understand 
potential available capacity.  Once this 
is complete, a survey of businesses 
will take place to understand demand 
for food waste from local businesses.  
A working group will be established to 
include Business Development 
Specialist.  There is a need to develop 
a pricing model/offer for customers 
and utilise trade crews knowledge of 
businesses. There is no requirement 
for a change in the vehicle to operate 
this service if business case is 
accepted.  

33 Fleet and 
Waste 

Waste Strategy - Develop 
a strategy to reduce 
waste and improve 
recycling throughout the 
Borough. To include 
domestic and commercial 
activities. 

Waste 
reduction, 
recycling and 
responsible 
waste 
management. 

By August 
2020. 

Completed: New Waste 
Strategy Agreed in 
November 2020. Proposals 
to be considered in 
December 2020 to increase 
frequency of Glass & Battery 
and roll out food collections 
for flats.  
Review will continue to 
identify improvements. 
 

Update: Collection day changes 
implemented that included the rollout 
of fortnightly collection of 
glass/batteries at the same time as 
recycling collections for most 
households using one vehicle.  Food 
waste collections rolled out to 90 
housing blocks and the remainder of 
the borough will be phased in.   

29



34 Fleet and 
Waste 

Waste - AD - Eastleigh is 
the only Council in 
Hampshire to collect food 
waste from residential 
properties. Currently 
waste is processed 
outside of the Borough. A 
business proposal will be 
developed for building an 
anaerobic digestion 
facility within the 
borough. 

Reduction in 
operational 
emissions and 
increased areas 
for biodiversity. 

Business case 
developed by 
October 2020. 

The programme has been 
scheduled for a later date as 
the Council is partnering 
with another Local Authority 
to carry out this review. 
Funding has been set aside 
to support the assessment. 

This has not been progressed.  The 
HWP, that includes EBC is working 
collaboratively to develop twin stream 
collections for 2024, that would 
include the building of a new MRF and 
enabling transfer stations to be able to 
take separate fibre and food waste.  
AD capacity in Dorset, will be able to 
manage demand for food waste 
processing in the short to medium 
term. 

35 Housing Housing - activities 
around zero carbon 
development and 
biodiversity net gain in 
Eastleigh delivered 
schemes. 

Net Zero carbon 
consideration 
through 
development 
and supporting 
local 
biodiversity 

All new 
Eastleigh 
developments 
to factor in 
Zero carbon. 

The housing development 
team has carried out several 
assessments and has climate 
and ecological matters 
within their programme. The 
environmental specialist 
team have been working 
with the One Horton Team 
on the first phase of the 
development. 

£30,000 has been reallocated for 
consultancy support to develop policy 
and set standards to achieve Net-Zero 
developments. (Procurement process 
complete by Jan 2022).   
 
Strategic Development Manager is 
monitoring funding opportunities (e.g. 
decarbonising heat and buildings) 
following announcements in Net Zero 
Strategy (19 Oct).   
 
First parcel OHH to use heat pump 
and have high levels insulation, 
adopting the future homes standard 
of 75% energy efficiency improvement 
on current building regs. 

30



36 External Water Fountains – 
Assessment of locations 
and where feasible 
installation of public 
water fountains across 
the borough. 

Reduction in 
waste, 
resilience to 
heatwaves 
lower emission 
water usage. 

Business case 
for 
consideration 
by August 
2020.  

Delayed due to COVID. 
Scheme has been costed, 
with initial locations 
identified. A more detailed 
proposal is under 
development with a future 
decision needed regarding 
funding. 

Delayed due to COVID this installation 
of water fountains will now take place 
in 2022/2023. 
 

37 Nutrient 

Budgeting 
Nitrates – Scheme to 
manage Nitrate issues in 
the borough. 

Ecological 
improvements 
supporting local 
biodiversity.  

Nitrate 
offsetting 
agreed already 
started. 

Report taken to committee 
with an initial offsetting 
scheme agreed. Work is 
being carried out to identify 
land for further ecological 
improvements. 

Complete: 190 acres of land has been 
acquired to offset nitrates entering 
the Solent. 
 
 

38 Fly-tipping Fly-tipping – Reduced 
environmental pollution 
through a new approach 
to tackling fly-tipping. 

Reduction in 
local pollution 
and littering. 

New 
procedures in 
place by 
March2021, 
Launch Fly-
tipping 
campaign in 
June 2021.  

Delayed due to COVID. A 
new working group in place, 
new project being launched 
with improvements set out 
across a range of council 
activities. 

New procedure for investigating and 
enforcing against fly-tipping 
established.  
 
CMS has been updated to 
accommodate new procedure, 
relevant officer training has taken 
place and will be implemented from 
end of Nov 21 - with ongoing 12 
month review.  
 
Fly-Tipping strategy and departmental 
SLA’s drafted and awaiting approval.  
 
Comms plan commenced in Sept 21. 
Key initial headlines indicate a 42.7% 
increase in EBC fly-tipping webpage 

31



visits, and a 71% increase on click 
through to the EA waste carrier index 
to check for licenced waste carriers 
(duty of care).  

39 Estates Energy - Review of 
previous Solar PV 
(Photovoltaic) businesses 
cases, including the 
potential for installing 
large scale schemes. 

Increased local 
renewables will 
reduce demand 
for Fossil fuel 
power. 

More detailed 
business cases 
to be 
considered by 
March 2021. 

Further business cases under 
review. 

The Point has been identified as a 
potential site for roof mounted solar 
PV. Suitability of other sites that do 
not currently have solar will be 
considered as part of energy audits. 
 
 

40 External Review Council Grant 
funds  

Increase public 
awareness and 
maximise 
ecological and 
environmental 
improvements 

Review of 
funding and 
launch in 
21/22 

Early review carried out. Review of grant fund complete. 
Project on hold due to reallocation of 
budget. 
 
Decision will be reviewed in April 2022 
with potential launch in June 2022. 

41 External Council supporting 
delivery of Green Homes 
Grant for residents 
including Local Delivery 
Funding with Partner 
Authorities 

Energy 
efficiency and 
dealing with 
Fuel Poverty. 

Funding 
Launched  

First Community 
engagement carried out. 
Eastleigh residents now able 
to access Local Delivery 
funding, doubling the 
funding up to £10k per 
household in Fuel Poverty. 

The Green Homes Grants scheme 
closed in March 2021. The scheme 
was hampered by a lack of registered 
installers. 
 
The Green Homes Grant Local 
Authority Delivery Fund provides 
grants of up to £10,000 for low-
income households (less than 
£30,000) with inefficient homes (D-G 
energy performance certificates).  
 
EBC joined at phase 1b and have 

32



 
 

continued through to phase 2.  
 
Phase 1 (number of installations):  

 Solid wall insulation (26) 

 air source heat Pump (28) 

 park home insulation (62) 

 solar PV (60) 
 

Phase 2 - 47 applications registered, 
details of measure not yet confirmed.  

33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh 
SO50 9YN 
 
 
Green House Gas (GHG) Emissions Report July 2021 
 
1. Introduction 

 
Eastleigh Borough Council has adopted the Department for Energy and Climate Change 
(DECC) request that, as from July 2011, Local Authorities report greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions from their own estates and services using a standard DEFRA methodology 
and format.  
 
This report covering the period of 2020/21 is including the July 2019 Climate and 
Environmental Emergency Declaration and associated Strategy and Action Plan 
published in November 2019. The new strategy includes a commitment for the 
Council to move to an industry leading comprehensive approach to Greenhouse Gas 
Reporting to include Scope 3 indirect emissions that arise due to the work we do. 
 

2. Emissions Summary 
 
Table 1 summarises Eastleigh Borough Council’s GHG emissions (tCO2e) for the past 
year against the base year of 2018/19 using the new Climate & Environmental 
Emergency methodology. Scope 3 calculations for commuting, procurement and working 
from home have been estimated for all years. 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Scope 1 (Gas, Fuel) 1771 1913 1571 

Scope 2 (Elec, Water) 485 420 303 

Scope 3 (Travel, Procurement, WFH) 7410 5579 7288 

Total gross emissions 9666 7912 9163 

    

Carbon credits 333 324 315 

Total net emissions 9333 7588 8847 

%reduction from 2018/19  18% 5% 
Table 1 – CEE GHG emissions summary tCO2e (not weather corrected) 

 
 

35



 
3. Company Information 

Eastleigh Borough Council is a district Council within Hampshire providing a range of 
services to a resident population of 140,000. The registered address is Eastleigh House, 
Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO50 9YN 
 

4. Reporting Period 
This report is for the financial year 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

 
5. Changes in Emissions 

COVID 19 has had a large impact on the council’s emissions with many employees 
required to work from home for large periods of the year and some sites shut down 
 
As a result Gas (Scope 1) and Electricity (Scope 2) usage and emissions have reduced. 
Business and Commuting travel (Scope 3) also fell but conversely emissions from 
working at home (Scope 3) rose. 
 
Procurement (Scope 3) has been estimated for the last three years using the same 
methodology. It is the largest single source of emission for the Council and is unstable 
with an increase in the last year. This could be partly due to infrastructure and costs 
relating to COVID requirements. 
 
Electricity has benefitted from a reduction in its carbon intensity due to less power 
created from coal, oil and gas and more from renewable sources and nuclear. 
 
Bulk fuel went up the previous year mainly due to a temporary generator at Itchen Valley 
Country Park. This was not required this year and the emissions fell as a result. 

 
6. Measuring and Reporting approach 

The majority for this report is created based on the DEFRA “Environmental reporting 
Guidelines”, which includes mandatory greenhouse gas emissions reporting guidance.  
 
In response to the Climate and Environmental Emergency the Council has begun 
reporting all emissions related to the climate. In addition to the DEFRA reporting, Table 1 
now factors in: 

• Staff Commute to work 

• Working from home 

• Procurement 

• Biomass 
 

7. Organisational Boundary 
We have used the financial control approach as recommended in the guidance to define 
our organisational boundary. Our scope includes emissions from buildings and transport 
used for the delivery of our services. 

 

36



8. Operational Scope 
Table 3 shows what is included in each scope measured in tCO2e. 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Scope 1 (Fuel Combustion)    

Gas 672 772 538 

Fuel 1098 1141 1033 

Total 1771 1913 1571 

    

Scope 2 (Indirect emissions)    

Electricity 454 390 274 

Street Lighting 15 14 13 

Water 16 16 17 

Total 485 420 303 

    

Scope 3 (Indirect other)    

Business Travel 31 32 16 

Staff Commuting Travel1 376 368 111 

Procurement1 6979 5156 6941 

Working from Home 23 22 221 

Total 7410 5579 7288 

    

Total gross emissions 9666 7912 9163 

    

Credits    

Green Tariff 272 265 257 

PV Export Only 61 59 58 

Total 333 324 313 

    

Total nett emissions 9333 7588 8847 
Table 2 - Breakdown of Scope 1,2 & 3 tCO2e (not weather corrected) 

 
The CO2e conversion factors used in calculating the GHG have been taken from the 
Government emission conversion factors for greenhouse gas company reporting. 
 
The figures have not been weather corrected. 
 

9. For transparency with previous years table 2 summarises Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
GHG emissions (tCO2e) for the past four years against the base year of 2007/08 using 
the old methodology. 
 

 2007/08 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Scope 1 2036 1575 1771 1913 1571 

Scope 2 753 676 485 420 303 

Scope 3 104 19 31 32 16 

Total gross emissions 2892 2269 2287 2365 1890 

      

Carbon credits 0 450 333 324 315 

Total net emissions 2892 1819 1954 2041 1575 

%reduction from 2007/08  37% 32% 29% 46% 
Table 3 – GHG emissions summary tCO2e (not weather corrected) 

37



 
10. Geographical Breakdown 

All Eastleigh Borough Council’s activities are in the UK. 
 

11. Targets 
The Council has declared a Climate Emergency and will put in place measures to ensure 
that the Council’s own operations and functions are Net Zero by 2025, 
 

12. Base Year 
The baseline year for Net Zero by 2025 is 2018/19. 
 

13. Intensity Measurement 
We have chosen the intensity measurement of tCO2e per full time equivalent (FTE) 
member of staff and per £m income as most relevant to local government. 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

tCO2e per FTE 21.04 15.84 17.96 

tCO2e per £m income 135.27 113.09 109.23 

 
14. External Assurance Statement 

The Council has not received independent external assurance over our reported 
emissions. 
 

15. Carbon Offsetting 
The Council has not purchased any carbon offsets 
 

16. Green Tariffs 
The Council purchases green electricity for all of its operational sites from EDF. 

 
17. Electricity Generation 

The Council has a programme of installing solar PV whenever feasible 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

kWh Consumed 133,152 118,895 133,546 

kWh Exported 215,081 229,483 249,695 

Total Generated 348,233 348,379 383,241 

 
 
 

38



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Monday, 6 December 2021  

CORPORATE ACTION PLAN 21/22 QUARTER 2 UPDATE 

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that the Panel notes and comments on the report and progress 
against delivering actions in the Corporate Action Plan 21/22 as set out in Appendix 
1. 
 

Summary 
 
Cabinet has agreed a set of key actions for delivery in 21/22 as set out in the Corporate 
Action Plan 21/22.  This report provides progress updates on delivery of each action, as 
set out in Appendix 1. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The Corporate Action Plan 21/22 contains actions aligned to delivery of 
objectives in the Corporate Plan 2015-2025.   

Background 

2. The Council has adopted a Corporate Action Plan (CAP) since 2019/20 to set 
out actions to be delivered during the year, aligned to objectives in the 
Corporate Plan 2015/2025.  Rather than separate high-level plans for seven 
or eight Cabinet members, the CAP brings together the key actions from all 
the portfolios into a single document, giving an holistic view of what the 
Council as a whole is seeking to deliver in the year. 

3. Actions are generated during the annual planning cycle from discussions with 
Cabinet members and senior staff, facilitated by the Strategic Planning and 
Development Team.  

39

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

4. Progress against CAP actions is discussed by Cabinet members in regular 
discussions with senior staff (Executive Heads, Service Managers) and 
Strategy leads. 

5. The CAP is not able to contain all of the actions being undertaken by the 
Council, with actions chosen that have the most direct impact for residents 
and businesses, above and beyond the delivery of statutory services and 
internal support functions (e.g. HR, IT, Finance, Governance and Case 
management).  

6. Local Area Action Plans are appended to the CAP when it is approved each 
year, but are developed separately and monitored by Local Area Committees.  

Progress at Quarter 2 

7. The progress at Quarter 2 is shown in Appendix 1 for each action.  Brief 
summaries of progress are provided, and quantified where possible.  In many 
cases the action is due to be carried out and completed across the whole year 
or by the end of the year.  

Financial Implications 

8. There are no financial implications of this report. 

Risk Assessment 

9. Performance management is a part of a risk management approach. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

10. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. 

 

11. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

There are no implications from this report. 

 

Conclusion 

12. Progress against the Corporate Action Plan 21/22 at Quarter 2 is provided at 
Appendix 1 for the Panel to note and provide any comments. 

DICCON BRIGHT 
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER 

 
Date: 18 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright 
Tel No: 07788 790 729 
e-mail: diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk 

40



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 

41



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Action Plan 2021/2022 – Quarter 2 update 

Environment – Cllr Rupert Kyrle 

Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

Climate and Environmental 
Emergency programme 

Implement range of activities in the Action 
Plan  

End of 21/22 CEE Action Plan showing 9 
completed actions, 7 amber and 
25 red. Action being taken to 
improve Action Plan position: 
Green Energy Manager recruited; 
funding allocated and being spent 
on priority actions; increase in 
staff capacity as the impact of 
COVID reduces. 

Growing and Planting 3000 trees 
from Eastleigh’s Tree nursery 

3000 saplings and trees During 21/22 19,000 trees growing at tree 
nursery. Plans for planting c 6,000 
during planting season at IVCP 
and other EBC land. 

Implement new waste collection 
plan 

Successful bin collections, recycling rate Q2 Missed bins decreasing, repeat 
missed bins reduced, recycling 
rate 45.4%. High garden waste 
subscriptions. 

Biodiversity Strategy and Action 
Plan  

Consultation on draft Strategy and draft 
Plan  

By end of 21/22 Strategy and Action Plan drafted 
for December Cabinet. 
Consultation planned for later in 
21/22. 

Develop approach to 
Biodiversity Net Gain through 
development management and 
Biodiversity Strategy 

Aim for at least 10% Net Gain for all 
development  

During 21/22 See above.  Biodiversity SPD in 
development. 

 Fly-Tipping  Implementation of investigation and 
enforcement procedures, and preventative 
measures to deter Fly-Tipping  

Q3 Initial implementation of new 
approach. 

 

43



  

44



Transport – Cllr David Airey 

Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

Assess options and support 
delivery of Mobility Transport 
Hub in Eastleigh Town Centre 

Delivery of Hub (dependent on SCC/HCC) During 21/22 Awaiting further information 
from HCC following their market 
analysis 

Manage and review road 
closure in Eastleigh town 
centre. Develop long term 
plans 

Decision in November/Dec on longer term 
proposals 

Closure may run until December 
2021.  

Roads reopened in Summer 2021 
Cabinet approved town centre 
principles in October 2021 and 
discussions with HCC regarding a 
place making approach to 
commence in November 2021 

Develop a Cycling and walking 
strategy 
 

Adopted document Adoption of new strategy by Q2 Draft strategy considered by 
Policy and performance Scrutiny 
Panel. Adoption planned by end 
of 21/22 

Initiate development of a Public 
Transport strategy  

Strategy development commenced Start in 21/22 Waiting for HCC to establish 
Enhanced Bus Partnership which 
will guide development 

Commission study into Hedge 
End to Eastleigh cycle link 

Study commissioned By end of 21/22 Continuing to secure developer 
contributions and land needed 
for the route. Project Manager 
appointed.  

Design and consult on BHH 
wayfinding project. Identify 
routes.  

Consultation, Designs and route 
identification completed 

During 21/22 Artistic practitioner appointed 
and developing consultation 
approach 

Support and promote public 
transport and community 
transport 

Increased bus and community transport 
patronage 

Throughout 21/22 Ongoing discussions with 
operators, experiencing 
pressures due to slow recovery 
from pandemic usage levels. Free 
bus provision for summer holiday 
programme (Family Fun Days) at 
IVCP. 

Update and install new air Updates/Installations completed 21/22 Upgrade complete at the Point, 

45



Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

monitoring equipment  almost complete at Southampton 
Road,  currently identifying site 
for new monitor in Bursledon and 
verbal agreement given to 
upgrade and move at Steele 
Close 
 

Roll out of rapid charge 
(30mins) Electric Vehicle 
charging points in public car 
parks 

Romsey Rd, Channon and Chestnut retail 
parks, PLE   

By Q3  Installation has begun with 
foundations and connections 
made. Chargers for Romsey Rd, 
Channon and Chestnut retail park 
have been delayed and are now 
expected in January 22. PLE still 
due to be installed by the end of 
December 21. 

Migrate EBC fleet to more 
sustainable power source 

Trial of Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil. 
Procurement of three new electric waste-
collection vehicles. 
 

June 2021 
20/21 

Trial complete. Transition of fleet 
during Q3. Order for 3 electric 
vehicles to be placed in Q3. 

 

Health and Social Policy - Cllr Tonia Craig and Cllr Paul Bicknell 

Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

Implement priority actions of the three 
Eastleigh Health & Wellbeing Board 
subgroups. 

KPIs from subgroup action plans and 
group output. 

- Starting well 
- Living well 
- Aging well 

 

Throughout 21/22 Board restarted following 
covid. Subgroups are having 
regular meetings and 
reviewing action plans. 

Implement a new Arts and Culture 
Strategy. 

Strategy implemented. By March 2023 (review in 6 
months) 

Strategy under development 
and consultation completed. 
A report on the findings of 

46



Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

the initial consultation 
expected in December. 

Deliver SportWorks & HealthWorks 
programmes of physical activity and 
wellbeing projects with a particular focus 
on addressing inactivity, health inequality 
and mental health. 

Number of attendances / visits. Number 
of sessions delivered. Long-term impacts 
of Healthworks programmes. 

Throughout 21/22 High Sportworks 
attendances, Low 
Healthworks attendances - as 
expected due to the nature 
of these different 
programmes (age/location) 

Deliver the We Are Undefeatable 
Eastleigh: Clinically Extremely Vulnerable 
(CEV) campaign  

Number of CEV participating in the 
campaign. 

Throughout 21/22 412 people responded to the 
first phase of the campaign 
(consultation with charities 
and CEV people). Next steps 
are analysing the results and 
drawing out themes. 

Implement a range of campaigns to tackle 
unhealthy weights and physical inactivity, 
promote social inclusion and mental 
wellness. 

Engagement in the campaigns. 
 

Throughout 21/22 All Healthworks services 
have re-started since July ’21 
and participation numbers 
are steadily increasing as 
public confidence returns: 4 
community based face to 
face Steady & Strong Classes 
plus 1 pilot virtual class; 1 
low level circuit session for 
people with chronic long 
term health conditions; 10 
weekly Healthwalks from 
various locations across the 
Borough. Nearly 10,000 
attendances at Sportworks 
programme in August and 
September. 

Review Sports and Active Lifestyles 
Strategy. 

Strategy Implemented. By March 2022 Strategy under development 
and public consultation 

47



Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

concluded. Strategy will be 
finalised for adoption in 
21/22, implemented from 
22/23. 

Manage and support key leisure facilities 
to improve mental and physical 
wellbeing. 

Attendances at leisure centres, parks and 
theatres. 

Throughout 21/22 High attendance at Parks, 
lower than target at indoor 
venues due to Covid19. 

Work with partners to raise awareness of 
vulnerable groups including hate crime 
and domestic abuse. 

Number of comms Throughout 21/22 Action replaced by agreed 
Community Safety Priorities: 
1. Reducing Drug related 
harm 
2. Working with Young 
people at risk  
3. Reducing Anti-social 
behaviour 

Bring organisations together in the 
Eastleigh Welfare Agencies Partnership 
(EWAP) to tackle health inequality and to 
support vulnerable residents across the 
Borough. 

Breadth and quality of partnership. Throughout 21/22 Partnership meetings 
continue, for information 
exchange and coordination 
of key partner services 

Deliver Arts and Culture Health and 
Wellbeing programmes using new Studio 
space. 

Number of participants, especially 
women, people with long term health 
conditions, disadvantaged families, 
children and young people. 

Throughout 21/22 A total of over 600 
participants in a range of 
groups, events and activities 
for the following groups or 
wellbeing needs: social 
isolation, Parkinsons Disease, 
over 50s, older women, 
disadvantaged young people 
and families, anxiety. 
 

Implement a Making Every Contact Count 
(MECC) Pilot Project across key frontline 
services – taking opportunities to give 

Project delivered and evaluated. Throughout 21/22 MECC training paused due to 
the need for face to face 
sessions. Instead, 3 ‘Connect 

48



Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

people more control of their lives. 5’ and other mental health 
training sessions have been 
delivered for 45 customer 
facing staff, including MECC 
principles. 

Implement the Armed Forces Action Plan. Action plan delivered. Throughout 21/22 Most actions complete. 
Further actions planned for 
Q3 and 4. 

Implement Equalities Strategy and Action 
Plan. 

Strategy and action implemented. By March 2022 Actions being delivered e.g. 
corporate training and 
development of new longer-
term Strategy and Action 
Plan. 

Implement the Employee Volunteering 
Scheme.(EVS) 

Successful delivery of the pilot scheme By March 2022 The EVS has been approved 
by Corporate Leadership 
Board. Timing of 
implementation is being 
considered. 

Continue to operate Local Response 
Centre. 

Help provided to enable all those who 
need to ‘shield’ or self-isolate. 

By September 2021 
 

The Local Response Centre 
will stay operational until 
March 2022. Demand has 
reduced significantly with 
roughly 3 calls to the centre 
per week due to people 
having their own support 
networks.   

 

  

49



Planning & Property Portfolio – Cllr Keith House  

Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

Adopt the Local Plan 2016-2036  Adoption Q3 
 

On track for adoption Q4 due to 
Planning Inspectorate delay. 

Work with partners and landowners to 
promote Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy  

Strategic housing objectives 
and targets.  Aim for the 
Housing Programme to be 
managing 5-10 projects at 
any time. 

Monitored monthly  4 sites now built out. 4 sites under 
construction. Pipeline of 7 projects 
at planning/design stage (inc 
OHH). EBC as developer or in 
partnership. Joining Wayfarer 
consortium with potential for 
partnerships to deliver affordable 
homes. 

Implementation work for delivery of One 
Horton Heath project 

Upfront infrastructure 
delivery and 
comprehensively planned 
new sustainable community 

Road segment 1 (Bubb Lane / Burnetts 
Lane) completion Summer 2021  
 
Road segment 2 (Allington Rd 
roundabout) completion Spring 2021  
 
Outline planning application and first 
detailed residential application 
October 2021 

Road segment 1 completed Sept 
’21 (Chalcroft Way) 
 
Road segment 2 completed March 
‘21 
 
Masterplanning principles agreed 
by HH Development Management 
Committee. Sept ’21. Permission in 
principle granted for 381 homes – 
Nov ‘21 

Seek Council approval for Housing Revenue 
Account Business Plan and compulsory 
registration of Eastleigh Borough Council 
with the Regulator of Social Housing 

To enable the Council to hold 
affordable housing stock in 
preparation for retaining 
affordable homes at One 
Horton Heath from 2023/24 

Target business plan approval March 
2022 

Business Plan in development. 
Registration completed (May ‘21) 

Work with EBC assets team to acquire 
properties for refurbishment for self-
contained temporary/ ‘move-on’ 
accommodation to support the Council’s 
Homelessness Strategy  

Increased supply of self-
contained temporary 
accommodation and access 
Government funding where 
possible 

Development scheme for self-
contained accommodation secured by 
end of 2021/22 

Working in partnership to deliver a 
scheme (15 flats) subject to 
planning ( December) 

50



Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

Establish Lettings & Management 
capabilities (residential) 

Number of homes held and 
managed on behalf of the 
Council and response to the 
services offered. 

Established in-house service by end of 
21/22 

Residential Lettings Manager 
appointed, ‘Leaf Homes’ project 
progressing to complete set up 
end of Q4. Aligned with Fanfare 
Place completion dates. 

Ongoing review of brownfield land assets 
and seeking capital funding (e.g One Public 
Estate land release fund) to unlock projects 
in support of the Asset Management 
Strategy 2020-2025 

External funding sought and 
awarded.  Number of 
feasibility studies and RIBA 
stage 0 and 1 undertaken for 
prospective housing sites. 
 
Expenditure of New Homes 
Bonus to subsidise unviable 
schemes for affordable 
housing. 

(Ongoing)- monitored monthly £460,000 awarded (by Sept) to 
EBC to develop brownfield sites.  
 
Eastleigh Town Centre schemes 
progressing. Planning applications 
to be submitted Q4 21/22   

Delivery of new homes at Stoneham Park, 
Eastleigh (42 homes for private rent 
provided via Aspect Eastleigh Ltd). 

Widening the housing choice 
and landlord services in 
Eastleigh town. 

Completion of first new homes for rent 
from August 2021.   

Stoneham Park 42 homes – on 
track . First handovers Sept 21 

Delivery of Fanfare Place, Eastleigh (49 new 
homes for private rent provided via Aspect 
Eastleigh Ltd).  . 

High quality lettings and 
management (EBC as 
responsible landlord). New 
homes in accessible town 
centre location and return of 
One Community and Age 
Concern to new premises.  

Completion of new homes for rent 
February 2022.   

Work underway Romsey Road 
Development – on track. Handover 
anticipated Q4. 
 

Oversee delivery of Pembers Hill Park, Fair 
Oak (242 dwellings) 

Pembers Hill LLP (joint 
venture company)- surplus 
income to be recycled in 
housing programme (on sale 
of properties).  
 
Options for first time buyers 
(i.e. Help to Buy); 42 shared 

Phase 1 completion (53 homes) Q1 
2021 
 
Phase 2 completion (73 homes) April 
2022 

Work underway. 60 Completions 
(July).  
 

51



Action Measure Timeline Q2 update 

ownership; and 43 affordable 
rent dwellings. 

Community engagement work to help shape 
new homes in central Eastleigh on 
previously-developed land (scheme known 
as the Parlour) 

Level of community interest 
and participation at events 
and feedback received. 
 
Redevelopment of former 
Samsons Gym and the 
Crockery, Eastleigh (near 
Grantham Green) (approx. 19 
dwellings), meeting housing 
needs, energy efficiency and 
other strategic objectives 
where possible. 

Engagement throughout May-Aug 
2021 
 
Target planning decision early 2022. 

Community engagement delayed 
due to Historic England 
assessment. Engagement started 
Nov ’21.  
 

 

Economy – Cllr Derek Pretty 

Action Measure Timeline Q2 Update 

Work alongside stakeholders and attend 
LEP led meetings to develop plans for a tax 
site on the Freeport. Work with 
landowners to unlock employment land 
stated in the Local Plan to enable inward 
investment and job creation at Riverside. 
Work with partners to unlock the southern 
section of Chickenhall Lane Link Road. 

Progress and maintaining the strong 
partnerships with landowners on the 
Riverside/Railway works Tax site 
(Navigators Quarter) established 
Increase in external business 
enquiries and interest for 
employment space on released land 
Planning applications from 
landowners relating to the future 
development of the link road 

During 21/22 Updated Outline Business Case to 
be submitted by the Partnership 
end November 21 following 
comments from Government.  
 
Ongoing direct dialogue with 
promotors of Navigators Quarter 
to develop and shape land use 
plans.  

Work with partners inc HCC to identify 
future needs for serviced office 
accommodation in the Borough, post 
Covid. 

Sites identified in each area of the 
borough and planned in as suitable 
for providing flexible office space 
Develop an opportunity for EBC to 

21/22 Economic Development and Asset 
Management working to identify 
potential sites to meet space 
requirements. 

52



Action Measure Timeline Q2 Update 

purchase a footprint parcel of land 
for enterprise use on the 
Riverside/railway works 

 

Create business opportunities that 
contribute to EBC climate change targets 
2025. Hold climate change business 
conference 

Conference held and number of 
attendees – minimum of 100 
participants. 

21/22 Conference rearranged for 
February22 due to business 
requests. OHH offering 
opportunities through 
procurement (Social Value) 

Develop and deliver a business support 
programme targeted to businesses 
particularly affected by the pandemic, 
including a business healthcheck, 121 
mentoring and business planning.  

Healthchecks for 90 businesses, 
intensive business support for ten 
businesses that seek further support 

21/22 Healthcheck programme replaced 
with Additional Restrictions Grant 
programme following business 
survey.  

Increase the employment and skills 
opportunities of young residents through 
development of Youth hub 

 Number of beneficiaries accessing 
the service and number of borough 
businesses recruited as placements 

21/22 Youth Hub set up fully staffed and 
public launch in November 21  

Promote Eastleigh borough gift card to 
encourage local spend and footfall  

50 businesses registered 21/22 30 businesses in the Town Centre 
have signed up to date 

Support the recovery of town and local 
centres post Covid via package of 
measures for towns and local centres 
across the Borough 

Increase Footfall, and dwell time to 
pre-covid levels. Reduce void levels 

During 21/22 A package of measures have been 
delivered via the Welcome Back 
Fund Team with the aim of 
increasing footfall and improving 
the visual appearance of 7 town 
and local centres the town. 

  

 

 

  

53



Regeneration – Cllr Paul Bicknell (North) and Cllr Ian Corben (South) 

Action Measure Timeline Q2 Update 

Regenerate Hedge End Town Centre Rationalise the strategic Hedge End 
town centre site around the former 
Budgens site.  

By end of 21/22  Strategic acquisitions are 
complete 

Improve Hiltingbury Lakes Watercourse repairs, re-surfacing of 
footpaths and new bridges, costed 
Maintenance Plan including setting 
up a Volunteer Group 
  

By end of Q3 (End of 2021). 
  
  

Volunteer group set up 

Complete Lawn Road Open Space 
Improvements 

Landscaping and new equipment 
completed  

End of 2021 Tables and benches installed 
Nov ’21. Completion due Dec 
‘21 

Instal West End heritage markers Three Heritage Markers October 2021 Delivery of the project has 
transferred from the Urban 
Landscape Design team to the 
Project Management Team. 
Completion due by end Q3 

Hedge End green routes wayfinding Install three wayfinding markers July 2021  Delivery of the project has 
transferred from the Urban 
Landscape Design team to the 
Project Management Team. 
Completion due by end Q3 

Complete Pirelli Open Space 
improvements 

Install benches May 2021 Completed 

Improve Eastleigh Town Centre Toilets Completion of works (subject to legal 
agreements) 

By end of 21/22 Eastleigh Town Centre toilets – 
decision to progress with works. 
 

Bursledon Country Park Ground works, landscaping, play area 
Remaining works  
Open to public  
 

Q2 
Q3 
2023 

Kestrel Park (Bursledon) – 
ground works underway with 
completion anticipated Oct 21 
with 12 months maintenance 
prior to handover in Summer 22. 

54



Action Measure Timeline Q2 Update 

Play provision being prioritised 
 

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities Commencement of Construction on 
site.  
Completion of works 
 (12 month maintenance period 
before open to public 2023) 
 

Q2  
Q4 

Woodhouse Lane sports 
facilities – on track 
 

Agree Regeneration Principles for Eastleigh 
Town Centre and develop action plan 

Action Plan for Eastleigh Town Centre Q3 Regeneration Principles agreed 
by ELAC and Cabinet, Action 
Plan for 22/23 agreed with ELAC 
in October, along with processes 
for longer term Action Plan 
development 

North Stoneham Community Building and 
Day Nursery 

Completion of facility and open to 
public for use.   

May 2021  Stoneham Community/Nursery 
– completed May 21 
 

Former Post Office, Eastleigh town centre Construction works August 2021 – November 2022 Tender returns being reviewed 
due to high costs of materials. 
Technical design underway with 
demolition anticipated Q4. 

The Arch Chandlers Ford  Construction works February 2022 – April 2023 Response to pre-app comments 
underway. External funding 
approved from Brownfield Land 
Release Fund. 
 

St Johns Phase 2 and Road Construction works Q1 2022 – Q1 2025 (subject to 
resolution of restrictive covenants) 

Land ownership negotiations 
continue. 
 

 

55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Monday, 6 December 2021  

DRAFT SPORTS AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES STRATEGY 

Report of the Strategic Planning Lead for Health and Wellbeing  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  the Panel consider and comment on the proposed aims and 
objectives for the draft Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy as part of early 
engagement. 

 

Summary 
 
The Council is currently in the process of reviewing and developing a new Sports and 
Active Lifestyles Strategy as the most recent strategy covered the period 2016 – 2020 and 
is therefore out of date. Unfortunately, as a result of the pandemic, the Council has only 
been able to commence this work this year.  
 
This paper outlines the key findings from the strategic review which has been undertaken 
by the Council, working with key stakeholders, and the proposed changes to the strategy 
following consultation. 

Focus for Scrutiny 

The Panel is asked to consider and comment on the draft aims and objectives of the 
strategy as part of early engagement. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Localism Act 2011 

 

57

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

 An active lifestyle is key to developing an effective response to the problem of 
inactivity within Eastleigh, as physical inactivity is one of the major risk factors 
causing death and ill-health, both globally and locally. Increasing physical 
activity has the potential to improve the physical and mental health of 
individuals, reduce all-cause mortality and improve life expectancy. The draft 
strategy will set out how the Council will achieve its ambition of empowering all 
people to be active through its 4 key aims, and which supports the Council’s 
corporate priority for health and wellbeing in: 

 Enabling healthier lifestyles/ wellbeing 

 Tackling health inequality and deprivation 
 
 

Introduction 

2. The most recent Sport and Active Lifestyles Strategy was adopted in 2016 
and ran until 2020. The strategic focus was on increasing participation in sport 
and physical activity, whilst also tackling health inequalities as a priority for the 
Borough.  
 

3. The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy 2016 - 2020 identified four strategic 
aims: 

 To increase and sustain regular participation in sport and physical 
activity 

 To support and develop a quality delivery structure of clubs, coaches, 
volunteers, officials and administrators 

 To promote a healthy lifestyle by making the case for sport and 
physical activity, building an evidence base and advocating the benefits 

 To protect and provide quality active environments and facilities which 
are accessible to local communities. 
 

4. Significant progress has been achieved over the last four years, including 
some large-scale capital projects, such as Places Leisure Eastleigh, the 
Stoneham Lane Football Complex and the FA Parklife Project and regional 
hub, all of which has contributed towards positive sport and physical activity 
outcomes for the Borough. However, it is recognised that the Council has 
faced significant challenge through the pandemic which has disrupted many 
regular aspects of life, including sport and physical activity. 
  

5. The pandemic has also widened levels of inequalities in terms of exercise and 
disproportionately impacted those with the lowest activity levels. In the initial 
stages of national lockdown, almost 20% of each demographic group was 
doing ‘a lot less’ physical activity compared to an average week before.  
 

58



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategic Review 

6. The draft Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy is supported by a strategic 
assessment which aims to examine the population of Eastleigh, their health 
and how active its residents are using national, regional and local data.  
 

7. The purpose of the assessment is to better understand physical inactivity in 
Eastleigh and determine the extent to which the population in the Borough is 
inactive. The assessment draws from a range of data sources and considers: 
(a) Existing examples of good practice and sources of data and insight.  
(b) Trends in physical inactivity, approaches, and underlying causes. 
(c) Who may be more likely to be inactive and why. 
(d) What facilities and activities currently exist in Eastleigh. 
(e) What residents and partners want from a Sports and Active Lifestyles 

Strategy. 
 

8. This information has then been used to help evidence and inform Eastleigh’s 
new Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy, setting out the Council’s 
aspirations to encourage more people, of all ages and backgrounds, to be 
more active. 
  

9. Some key data from the strategic review shows that: 

 In 2019/ 20, 63.8% adults (18+) were classified as overweight or obese 
in Eastleigh 

 In 2019/ 20, 68.1% of adults were physically active in Eastleigh 

 Between 2017/18 - 2019/20, 20.3% of children in year R were 
overweight or obese 

 According to the Mental Health Index in 2015, the areas estimated to 
have lower mental health and wellbeing are Eastleigh South, 
Bishopstoke West, Eastleigh Central and Netley Abbey.  

 81% of disabled adults want to do more activity than they currently do 

 75% of women want to be more active 

 69% of people with a long-term health condition would like to be more 
active 

 In 2019, Eastleigh had an Index of Multiple Deprivation Score of 10 
 
 

Engagement and consultation 
 
10. As well as using quantitive data to inform the objectives within the Strategy, 

the Council also created the Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy survey 
which went live on 2nd September and closed on 30th September.  
 

11. The consultation sought views from members of the public, agencies, 
businesses, and community organisations on how important physical activity 
is to them and what opportunities there are to increase participation in sport 
and physical activity in Eastleigh. There was also separate engagement with 
key partners and providers to understand what their priorities for sport and 
activity are and what role they can play in tackling inactivity. 

59



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
12. A total of 133 people responded to the survey and results are recorded within 

the strategic assessment. Some of the key responses are recorded below: 

 Over half of people were satisfied or very satisfied with opportunities to 
participate in sport and physical activity in Eastleigh 

 Approximately 44% of people felt that more affordable prices would 
support them to become more physically active  

 29% of people want sports and physical activity opportunities at more 
convenient times 

 Approximately 25% of people would like to feel safer when exercising 
in public 

 24% of people would like more opportunities to be physically active 
with others 

 18% of people in Eastleigh do not feel confident taking part in physical 
activity 

 The most popular physical activity people participate in is walking, with 
79% of people stating they walk to keep active 

 Almost 31% of people take part in fitness and exercise to keep active 

 30% of people cycle, 20% of people swim and 18% people like to run 
to keep active 

 36% of people stated they would like to see more fitness related 
activities in the Borough 

 There was a high percentage of people who did not know about what 
provision is on offer in Eastleigh 

 Approximately 53% of people felt there are good quality facilities in 
Eastleigh, 

 
 

Proposal for the next strategy  
 
13. The proposal is for the new Strategy, which will cover the period 2022 – 2026, 

to build on the existing 2016 - 2020 document and not to present a complete 
change in direction. It is expected that the style of the new strategy will be 
different, based more on the stakeholder consultation and local insight. This 
will offer a more targeted approach to focus on the areas that require the 
greatest support, whilst ensuring there is greater ownership with key 
stakeholders working towards agreed outcomes. 
 

14. From the evidence, the strategy should build on ‘place’ through existing built 
leisure facilities, but also draw on opportunities to further promote active 
lifestyles through the Borough’s country parks and culture sector. It should 
also be inclusive, as certain groups have been disproportionately affected by 
the pandemic and therefore are less active (such as women and people who 
are disabled).  

 
15. As a result of the strategic assessment, and subsequent consultation, the 

proposed aims and objectives for the next strategy are as follows: 
 

60



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Aim  Objective  

To increase and sustain regular 
participation in sport and physical 
activity 

 Use SportWorks programmes to increase 
participation among all groups with targeted 
interventions. 

 Use HealthWorks programmes to deliver 
key targeted health interventions around 
mental health and obesity. 

 Use strategic commissioning, through 
partnerships to attract additional resources. 

 Work in partnership with local networks to 
engage and empower local people to 
increase their activity levels. 

 Maximise the use of our parks and open 
spaces for physical activity. 

To support and develop a quality 
delivery structure of clubs, coaches, 
volunteers, officials, and 
administrators. 

 Support club and organisation development 
to enable them to reach their potential. 

 Develop and increase opportunities for 
volunteering locally in sport and physical 
activity. 

 Identify opportunities for funding to support 
increased club and volunteering 
development. 

 Support community clubs in applications for 
external capital funding. 

To promote a healthy physical and 
mental lifestyle, that is inclusive of all 
people. 

 Use sport as a tool to promote wider 
messages and encourage community 
cohesion including community safety and 
mental health. 

 Ensure effective data collection to monitor 
provision and inform strategic delivery 

 Promote the Borough’s facilities and 
increase awareness of sports provision on 
offer across the Borough. 

 Promote inclusiveness of sports and activity 
to address inequalities. 

To protect and provide quality active 
environments and facilities which are 
accessible to local communities. 

 Ensure clubs are making use of community 
sports hubs/ community halls for activity. 

 Provide and protect playing pitch provision 
guided by Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
Playing Pitch Strategy. 

 Continue to work within the planning 
process and negotiate Section 106 
agreements of quality open space and play 
Provision. 

 Continued client management of Eastleigh 
Borough Council owned facilities. 

 
 

Financial Implications 

16. The Strategy has no implications above existing service and project budgets.  
 

61



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

17. The Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy is a key strategy to ensure the 
Council achieve the Health and Wellbeing objectives set out in the Corporate 
Plan. Not having a strategy risks the Council failing to address the emerging 
challenges of inactivity in the Borough and could mean opportunities to 
improve health outcomes for residents are missed. 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

18. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as this paper is 
seeking early engagement with Policy and Performance and not seeking a 
decision. 

 
19. Therefore, it is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not 

need to be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not 
been carried out. 

 
 

20. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

21. There are no climate or environmental implications of this report or the draft 
Strategy.  

 

Conclusion 

22. The draft strategy is still in the development stage and the proposed aims and 
objectives subject to change. The Panel is invited to comment and feedback 
as part of early engagement. In terms of next steps, the final draft strategy will 
be brought back to Policy and Performance for final comment before it is 
discussed at Cabinet early next year.     

 

ANDREW SAUNDERS 
STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT SENIOR SPECIALIST 

 
Date: 11 November 2021 
Contact Officer: Andrew Saunders  
Tel No: 07531316085 
e-mail: andrew.saunders@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: None 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 

62



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers: None. 
 

63



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN: November 2021 to February 2022 

 
This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key 
decision” is likely to be taken. 
 
A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to: 
 
(1) result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the 

larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(2) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the 

Borough of Eastleigh. 
 
The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework. 
 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

9 December 2021 
 

Yes 

 
Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Policy  
 

Cabinet   9 Dec 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Policy. 

Helen Devereux, 
Property Lawyer /  
 

Yes 

 
Trees and Development 
Supplementary Planning 
Document  
 

Cabinet   9 Dec 2021   
 

Cabinet is asked to 
agree the final draft 
of the Trees and 
Development 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
and adopt it formally 
for use in conjunction 
with the new Local 
Plan.  

Dawn Heppell /  
 

65

A
genda Item

 9



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

2 

Yes 

 
Biodiversity Strategy  
 

Cabinet   9 Dec 2021  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
approve the draft Biodiversity 
Strategy to go out for public 
consultation, with the 
amended final document 
brought back for adoption 
after the consultation period. 

Paul Howe, 
Ecologist /  
 

Yes 

 
Asset Transfer Policy  
 

Cabinet   9 Dec 2021  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

This document codifies 
previous documents that 
over several years have 
made up the long-standing 
policy on Asset Transfers to 
parish and town councils. 

Diccon Bright, 
Strategic 
Planning 
Manager /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   9 Dec 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   9 Dec 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

10 January 2022 
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   10 Jan 2022   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   10 Jan 2022   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

66



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

3 

17 February 2022 
 

Yes 

 
Capital and Treasury Strategy  
 

Cabinet   17 Feb 2022   
 

To consider and approve the 
Capital and Treasury 
Strategy. 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
2022 - 2023 Borough Council 
Budget  
 

Cabinet   17 Feb 2022  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

To consider and recommend 
the 2022 – 2023 Borough 
Council Budget to Council for 
approval. 

Sarah King, 
Corporate 
Director /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   17 Feb 2022   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   17 Feb 2022   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

 
 
FOOTNOTES: 
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken. 
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to 
the meeting. 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Johnston – Democratic Services Manager 
Publication Date: 25 November 2021 
 

67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel 
Work Plan 2021/22 
16 September 2021 
Topic Attendees 

Use of Agency Staff in Direct Services (T&F) Paul Naylor 

NWWW Dashboard Review Paul Naylor 

One Horton Heath – Update and Policy Development  Chris Payne 

 

 

14 October 2021 
Topic Attendees 

Use of Agency Staff in Direct Services (T&F) Paul Naylor 

NWWW Dashboard Review Paul Naylor 

One Horton Heath – Update and Policy Development Chris Payne 

Asset Transfer Policy Diccon Bright 

  

  

 

18 November 2021 
Topic Attendees 

biodiversity strategy delivery documents Paul Howe (confirmed) 

Performance Data, Q1&2 Exec heads (confirmed) 

  

  

  

 

6 December 2021 
Topic Attendees 

Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan update  Andy Brennan  

CAP Updates 
Cabinet progress against CAP items 

Diccon Bright 

Active Lifestyle Strategy (Early Engagement, T&F) Andrew Saunders  

  

  

 

13 January 2022 
Topic Attendees 

Emerging Culture Strategy Nicola Moore 

69

Agenda Item 10



Kick off: Future Housing Standards TF group to examine 
how the quality of the council’s future housing stock can 
be monitored and maintained 

Andy Smith, (Social Policy Lead?) 

Tree Strategy Diccon Bright 

 

10 February 2022 
Topic Attendees 

Budget (Including CAP) Sarah King, Andy Smith, Diccon Bright 

Performance Data, Q3 CLB 

Public Health Strategy TBC 

 

 

 

10 March 2022 
Topic Attendees 

Public Transport Operators (Bus and Rail)  

Complaints Performance Louise O’Driscoll/Jess Hatch 

Equalities Strategy Andrew Saunders  

SUDs SPD (Part for formal adoption consultation) Dawn Heppell 

TBC Complaints Policy/Persistent Complainants Jo Cassar/Louise O’Driscoll ??? 

  

  

 

 

Items Expected but not Scheduled 
Topic Attendees 

High Streets Strategy (Pre-decision)  

Hospital Consultation (External Consultation)  

  

  

  

  

  

 

Items for next programme: 

May 

Community Safety Partnership Review Melvin Hartley, Hampshire Police 

 

70


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan
	Climate Change App 1
	Climate Change App 2

	7 Corporate Action Plan Updates
	Appendix. 1 for Corporate Action Plan 2122 Quarter2 update

	8 Active Lifestyle Strategy
	9 Cabinet Forward Plan
	10 Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme

